# RECEIVED

**OF WISCONSIN** 

Appeal No. 2018AP000993

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** 

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS 1010242018

Village of Menomonee Falls,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs-

Kristina Smithers,

Defendant-Appellant.

### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

<u>Appeal</u> from the Decision made from the bench on May 10, 2018 by the Honorable Lee S. Dreyfus, Jr., Circuit Judge for Branch 5, Waukesha County Circuit Court, in Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 2017-CV-790.

DARYL W. LAATSCH, S.C. Daryl W. Laatsch Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1011144 333 West Paradise Drive P.O. Box 433 West Bend, WI 53095 262/338-1110

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On September 24, 2016 at approximately 2:15 p.m. Kristina Smithers was driving southbound on Hwy. I-41 in the Village of Menomonee Falls. Several other drivers made calls to the Menomonee Falls Police Department because they were concerned about the operation of her vehicle. Officers who responded noted that the Smithers vehicle was swerving between two lanes and was being operated at about 45 m.p.h. in an area where the speed limit was 70 m.p.h. When officers pulled her vehicle over and had contact with Kristina Smithers it was readily apparent that she was impaired. Her speech was slurred, she had difficulty maintaining balance, her coordination was poor, and she was slow in reacting to officers' questions and instructions. According to one of the investigating officers, Lemar Brooks, she did not appear to understand what was going on around her and was "not processing" and was not really responsive to anything." (R. - 21, Trial transcript, pages 17 -24.)

There was no odor of intoxicants and even at the scene one of the officers noted that it seemed that Smithers' condition was the result of medications. (R. - 21, page 19) A blood sample was taken at Community Memorial Hospital and the results when it was analyzed showed that Ms. Smithers had no alcohol in her system and that the only drugs which were found were prescription medications which she had taken that day. The report from the WSLH, dated January 12, 2017, reported that no ethanol had been

detected and further reported that Carisoprodol and Meprobamate, which is a metabolite of Carisoprodol; Tramadol and O-desmethyltramadol, which is a metabolite of Tramadol; and Temazepam were detected. (R. - 14, Exh. 3, App. page 19)

The Carisoprodol, Tramadol, and Temazepam are all medications for which Ms. Smithers had prescriptions and which she had taken that day in accordance with the directions related to the prescriptions.

James Oehldrich, who was a forensic toxicologist for the State Crime Laboratory for over 30 years and is now a private consultant, reviewed Ms. Smithers medication records and the medications she reported taking on September 24, 2016 and found that she had taken her medications in accordance with her prescriptions. Mr. Oehldrich also found that because Ms. Smithers reported taking a dose of Carisoprodol shortly before leaving her house in West Bend, that the Carisoprodol would have been peaking at about the time that Ms. Smithers was driving in Menomonee Falls. He also provided the opinion that Ms. Smithers symptoms as observed by the officers was consistent with the effects of Carisoprodol, and further provided the opinion that there were no indications of anything else causing Ms. Smithers' impairment. (R. - 14, Exh,. 4, App. page 20; R. - 21, pages 51 - 60)

For the sake of completeness it should be noted that Diane Kalscheur, the analyst who issued the January 2017 report from WSLH was of the opinion that the level of Carisoprodol found in the blood sample was higher than therapeutic ranges, while James Oehldrich found that it was within therapeutic ranges. This difference of findings is not particularly significant, however, because Kalscheur also testified that her opinion that the level was above therapeutic ranges was not indicative of Ms. Smithers taking the medication in any manner other than as prescribed. In short, that a person could take medication in the manner prescribed and that it could still be present above therapeutic ranges. Kalscheur's testimony on this subject at the municipal court trial was brief, and had to do with absorption and the like.

All of this is consistent with Ms. Smithers' recollection, which is that she left her house in West Bend shortly some time between 1:30 and 2:00 p.m. on September 24, on her way to northern Illinois to spend the weekend with friends whom she was meeting there. Ms. Smithers was talking with one of those friends on her Bluetooth ear piece from the time she left West Bend until being pulled over in Menomonee Falls. When she left West Bend Ms. Smithers felt fine and had no indication that her medications were having an adverse effect. The friend later told Ms. Smithers that there was a change in her conversation during the period of approximately 20 minutes between when she left home in West Bend and when she was pulled over by Menomonee Falls police. (R. - 21, pages 41 - 50)

#### LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

WHETHER THE STATUS OF A FIRST OFFENSE OWI AS A CIVIL MATTER PRECLUDES DEFENDANT FROM RAISING INVOLUNTARY INTOXICATION AS A DEFENSE IS AN ISSUE IN THIS CASE. THE TRIAL COURT HELD THAT BECAUSE THIS CASE IS A FIRST OFFENSE OWI CASE, INVOLUNTARY INTOXICATION COULD NOT APPLY. DEFENDANT CONTENDS THAT BOTH DEFENSES PROVIDED IN THE SUBSECTIONS OF §939.42 APPLY.

Several issues are presented in this case. A threshold issue is whether involuntary intoxication can be raised as a defense in a first offense OWI case. One of the rulings of the trial court in its decisions concerning the pre-trial motion brought by the defense and at trial was that because involuntary intoxication is a defense found in the criminal code and a first offense OWI case is a civil matter, that involuntary intoxication cannot be raised as a defense in such cases. (App. pages 12 - 18) Defendant contends that involuntary intoxication can be raised as a defense offense OWI case because they are quasi-criminal in nature.

The trial court also found that even if involuntary intoxication could be raised as a defense in a first offense OWI case such as this one, that it would not apply in this case. With all due respect, the trial court failed to apply the correct legal standard to the facts presented and made findings regarding most of the elements of an involuntary

intoxication defense, but failed to evaluate the evidence presented and to make a finding concerning the issue of whether defendant's intoxication 1) rendered her incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong in regard to the alleged criminal act at the time the act is committed, which is the standard set forth in §939.42(1), Wis. Stats., or 2) negatived the existence of a state of mind essential to the crime, the standard set forth in §939.42(2), Wis. Stats.

To be fair, neither party emphasized interpretation of §939.42, with both plaintiff and defendant focussing their arguments and presentations on whether an OWI offense is a strict liability offense, with no element of culpability, scienter, or mens rea to be considered in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant. Evidence was, however, presented as to each of the subsections of §939.42, so that both of the defenses found in the statute were presented to the trial court.

It is of significance that once evidence of involuntary intoxication was presented, the burden shifted back to the plaintiff. See, <u>Gish v. Dittmann</u>, 291 F.Supp.3d 864 (2017) at 875, citing Wisconsin Criminal Jury Instructions § 755A Comments n.3 (2015) and <u>State v. Anderson</u>, 2014 WI 93, ¶ 25. "If the state does not meet its burden, 'the result will be an acquittal on the charge.""

> WHETHER SUBSECTION (1) OF §939.42 APPLIES GIVEN THE FACTS PRESENTED IN THIS CASE IS AT ISSUE. DEFENDANT CONTENDS THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED

### ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO APPLY THE PROPER LEGAL STANDARD TO THE FACTS PRESENTED REGARDING THIS ISSUE.

Defendant looks first to §939.42(1) along with relevant case law, most notably <u>State v. Gardner</u>, 230 Wis. 2d 32, 601 N.W.2d 670 (Ct. App. 1999) The evidence of involuntary intoxication as a result of taking prescription medications was presented through the testimony of Ms. Smithers and of, James Oehldrich, a forensic toxicologist. Smithers testified concerning the medications she had taken and demonstrated through pharmacy and medical records that all of them were prescribed. (R. - 21, pages 41 - 50; R. - 15 and 16, Exh. 6 - 9) Oehldrich testified that the medications which Smithers described taking were those which had been prescribed to her, Both Oehldrich and Diane Kalscheur, the toxicologist from the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, testified that Ms. Smithers' impairment was the result of the medications she had taken. (R. - 21, pages 26 - 36 and pages 51 - 60)

As regards Kristina Smithers being "incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong in regard to the alleged criminal act at the time the act is committed", which is the language of subsection (1), her incapacity was described in considerable detail by Officer Lemar Brooks.

Brooks described Kristina Smithers as "lethargic", "delayed", having a "heavy tongue". He also testified that she repeatedly gave the same answer to different questions. When asked whether Smithers appeared to be aware of what was going on,

Brooks said that she "wasn't processing". He also testified that Smithers was unable to respond to questions he asked her about her driving. In addition, he testified about responses given by Smithers which were inaccurate and demonstrated her lack of capacity. These included telling him that she was not under a doctor's care, that she had diabetes, and that the only medication she had taken was sudafed. All of these statements were wrong.

Officer Brooks testified, "Well, it appeared that she was awake and understanding, but she was not. She was very lethargic and slow to respond. So she was the opposite of what I was seeing." (R. - 21, pages 12-13) He also testified, "She was conscious. That's probably about as much as I could tell from the situation. She wasn't really responsive to anything." (R. - 21, page 17) Officer Brooks further testified that he thought that Smithers might be having a diabetic reaction or that she was under the influence of "some type of medication". (R. - 21, page 19)

Brooks also testified that he couldn't understand many of Smithers' answers to his questions. He told another responding officer that he thought Smithers was under the influence of medications or had a medical condition. He was sufficiently concerned about her condition that he called fire and medical responders to the location and had Smithers in the back of the ambulance while he was questioning her. (R. - 21, page 24)

In short, what Officer Brooks was describing was someone with significant

incapacities, who was barely functioning and certainly not aware of what she was doing. This was not a situation like that presented in <u>State v. Alby</u>, 2001 WI App 146, 246 Wis. 2d 671, 630 N.W.2d 276 , where defendant told the arresting officer that he knew he had messed up and fallen off the wagon; or <u>State v. Deppiesse</u>, 2014 WI App 71, 351 Wis. 2d 622, 848 N.W.2d 903, where defendant testified that she was not impaired and had a clear recollection of the traffic stop; or <u>State v. Eggenberger</u>, 2013 WI App 128, ¶ 14, 351 Wis.2d 224, 838 N.W.2d 866, where all that was alleged were impaired judgment and lowered inhibitions. These cases are examples of situations where the condition of the defendant was impaired to the point that driving was illegal, but not so impaired that he or she lacked the ability to know that they were impaired.

In this case, on the other hand, Kristina Smithers was so impaired by reason of having taken prescribed medications that she lacked the capacity to understand that she was impaired. This is clear from the testimony of Officer Brooks and of Smithers herself. If Smithers had been suffering from a diabetic reaction, as Officer Brooks at first suspected, she would not be liable under the statute, particularly if she was unaware that she was experiencing the reaction.

The same holds true when, as is the case here, she was suffering from a medical condition – impairment as described in the testimony – and was unaware of it. If her impairment had been slight, and she had known (or should have known) that she was under the influence and chose to drive anyway, that would be a different matter. But

where, as here, she was unable to comprehend her circumstances, where in the language of subsection (1), she was unable to distinguish between right and wrong in regards to the criminal act alleged, and that impairment and lack of capacity was brought on by the innocent act of using medications as prescribed by her treating medical professionals, the statute provides a defense.

Evidence of Ms. Smithers' impairment and of her lack of capacity was presented to the trial court and was commented upon by the judge during the course of his ruling. What the trial court did not do, however, as it decided this case was take into account the legal effect of the evidence of lack of capacity. Given the evidence presented here is no question that the finding of the court should have been that Ms. Smithers was incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong in regard to the alleged offense, and that the defense provided for in subsection (1) applies in this case.

For that reason the judgment in this case should be reversed and the case dismissed. In the alternative the judgment should be vacated and the case remanded for determination by the trial court of whether Ms. Smithers was incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong in regard to the alleged offense. A finding could be made based on the testimony and evidence already adduced or the trial court could order a new trial. With findings and conclusions of law concerning the issue of whether Ms. Smithers was capable of distinguishing right from wrong being made, the trial court will have applied the law to the facts presented. WHETHER THERE IS A MENTAL STATE WHICH IS AN ELEMENT IN AN OWI OFFENSE – A KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN STANDARD – AND, IF SO, WHETHER KRISTINA SMITHERS' INVOLUNTARY INTOXICATION FROM PRESCRIPTION MEDICATIONS CONSTITUTED A DEFENSE TO THAT ELEMENT IS AN ISSUE IN THIS CASE. THIS IS THE DEFENSE PROVIDED BY SUBSECTION (2) OF §939.42. DEFENDANT CONTENDS THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING TO APPLY THE LAW TO THE FACTS ON THIS ISSUE.

Ms. Smithers also presented and actually emphasized the issue of whether a mental state is part of an OWI offense. If, as defendant contends, there is a mental state – whether denominated intentionality, scienter, or mens rea, then the Village was required to show that defendant knew or should have known that she was impaired and should not have been operating a motor vehicle. The defense further contended that Ms. Smithers' condition of involuntary intoxication was such that it negatived the existence of that state of mind, i.e., that the defense provided by subsection (2) applies. The response of the Village has been that OWI is a strict liability offense and that no showing of intent, scienter, or mens rea need be made. And that if no showing of such a state of mind is necessary, that it cannot be negatived, no matter what Ms. Smithers' condition was at the time of the alleged offense.

The exact standard to be applied in determining whether a state of mind has been negatived under subsection (2) is not described in the language of the statute. It has been The 'intoxicated or drugged condition' to which the statute refers is not the condition of alcohol-induced incandescence or being well-lit that lowers the threshold of inhibitions or stirs the impulse to criminal adventures. It is that degree of complete drunkenness which makes a person incapable of forming intent to perform an act or commit a crime. To be relieved from responsibility for criminal acts it is not enough for a defendant to establish that he was under the influence of intoxicating beverages. He must establish that degree of intoxication that means he was utterly incapable of forming the intent requisite to the commission of the crime charged. 46 Wis. 2d at 331.

Given the description of Kristina Smithers' condition by Officer Brooks in his testimony, there can be little or no question that any state of mind necessary to the offense was negatived by her involuntary intoxication.

If, as defendant contends, a state of mind is required for a person to be found guilty of OWI, then the defense provided for in subsection (2) applies in this case. For reasons which are set forth in the argument section of this brief, defendant contends that there is a state of mind which should be read into the OWI statute which is similar to that read into the OAR statute in <u>State v. Collova</u>, 79 Wis. 2d 473, 255 N.W.2d 581 (1977), and into other statutes where case law has found that it should be added. The state of mind which should be read into the OWI statute is a knew or should have known standard which is often read into statutes which are silent on their face as to state of mind.

Just as in the application of subsection (1) to the facts presented at trial, application of subsection (2) should result in a reversal and dismissal. Again, the

alternative would be that the judgment should be vacated and the case remanded for determination by the trial court of whether the state of mind was negatived by Ms. Smithers' involuntary intoxication. A finding could be made based on the testimony and evidence already adduced or the trial court could order a new trial. With findings and conclusions of law concerning the issue of whether an essential state of mind was negative being made, the trial court will have applied the law to the facts presented.

#### ARGUMENT

### DEFENSES THAT APPLY IN CRIMINAL CASES ALSO APPLY IN QUASI-CRIMINAL ORDINANCE VIOLATION CASES

Criminal procedures and standards, including criminal defenses, apply in all important respects to civil ordinance violations which are quasi-criminal in nature. See, for example, <u>Milwaukee v. Cohen</u>, 57 Wis. 2d 38, 203 N.W.2d 633 (1973), in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that Fourth Amendment protections against unreasonable search and seizure applied in a civil case which was quasi-criminal and that the county court had authority to grant a motion to suppress items seized unlawfully. Id. at 46.

See also <u>County of Ozaukee v. Quelle</u>, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 542 N.W.2d 196 (1995), in which the Court of Appeals held that §971.31(10), which on its face applied only to criminal cases, also applied to first offense OWI cases, even though they are not criminal. This is the statute which provides for appeals of adverse rulings on suppression motions to be brought even when the defendant has entered a plea of guilty or no contest.

In addition, see <u>City of Janesville v. Wiskia</u>, 97 Wis. 2d 473, 293 N.W.2d 522 (1980), in which the Supreme Court reversed an award of attorneys fees awarded when defendant was acquitted, because the prosecution of city ordinance violations is quasicriminal in nature and, therefore, civil remedies such as the award of attorneys fees do not apply.

It is clear that prosecution of first offense OWI violations is quasi-criminal in nature and, therefore, defenses which would apply if it were completely criminal in nature apply.

### DEFENDANT PRESENTED ALL OF THE ELEMENTS OF A DEFENSE UNDER §939.42(1), WIS. STATS. AND THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO APPLY THE LAW CONCERNING THIS STATUTORY DEFENSE TO THE FACTS PRESENTED

The issue of involuntary intoxication as a result of taking prescription medications as a defense in an OWI case has not been directly addressed in any published case, although there has been at least one published case where it was rejected as a defense because the defendant had consumed alcohol along with prescription medications. <u>City</u> of Waukesha v. Godfrey, 41 Wis. 2d 401, 164 N.W.2d 314 (1969). There are also two unpublished cases in which the elements which would be necessary for it to apply are discussed, but found not to apply. <u>State v. Alby</u>, 2001 WI App 146, 246 Wis. 2d 671, 630 N.W.2d 276 and <u>State v. Deppiesse</u>, 2014 WI App 71, 351 Wis. 2d 622, 848 N.W.2d 903.

Probably the most useful case on the subject of involuntary intoxication as a defense is <u>State v. Gardner</u>, 230 Wis. 2d 32, 601 N.W.2d 670 (Ct. App. 1999). It includes a lengthy discussion which sets forth the elements, the underlying rationale of the defense, and includes citation to out of state cases which are illustrative. The Gardner court states:

It is clear that the effects of prescription medication can form the basis of an involuntary intoxication defense. When commenting on the criminal code revision, the Legislative Council referred to an annotation discussing when the defense is available. See 1953 A.B. 100, A § 1 at 34. The cited annotation begins with the following quote:

That if a person by the unskilfulness of his physician, or by the contrivance of his enemies, eat or drink such a thing as causeth such a temporary or permanent phrenzy this puts him into the same condition, in reference to crimes, as any other phrenzy, and equally excuseth him.

Annotation, When intoxication deemed involuntary so as to constitute a defense to criminal charge, 30 A.L.R. 761, 761-62 (1924) (quoted source omitted). Modern authorities confirm that the defense is available for intoxication caused by prescription drugs. See 1 Wayne R. LaFave & Austin W. Scott, Jr., Substantive Criminal Law § 4.10(f), at 560 (1986) ("Yet another instance of involuntary intoxication is when the substance was taken pursuant to medical advice."). Under the Model Penal Code, intoxication is an affirmative defense when it is not self-induced and renders the actor incapable of appreciating the criminality of his or her conduct, or unable to conform his or her conduct to the law. See Model Penal Code § 2.08(4) (1962). An exclusion in the definition of "self-induced" demonstrates that prescription drug effects may count as

#### involuntary intoxication:

(b) "self-induced intoxication" means intoxication caused by substances which the actor knowingly introduces into his body, the tendency of which to cause intoxication he knows or ought to know, unless he introduces them pursuant to medical advice or under such circumstances as would afford a defense to a charge of crime.

Id. § 2.08(5)(b) (emphasis added). See also Phillip E. Hassman, When Intoxication Deemed Involuntary so as to Constitute a Defense to Criminal Charge, 73 A.L.R.3d 195 § 7 (1977) ("Intoxication prescribed or administered by physician").

The State acknowledges that the effects of prescription medication may constitute involuntary intoxication, but urges us to add the requirement that the

defendant must not know of the intoxicating effect. We acknowledge that ample case law supports this position. The rationale is that if the defendant knows of the intoxicating effect prior to taking the medication, then the intoxication is rendered voluntary. See City of Minneapolis v. Altimus, 238 N.W.2d 851, 857 (Minn. 1976) (so holding and citing supporting cases). We see no reason to so limit the defense. Even if forewarned of the intoxicating effect of a prescription drug, a person should have recourse to the defense if the drug renders him or her unable to distinguish between right and wrong. When faced with a medical condition requiring drug treatment, the patient hardly has a choice but to follow the doctor's orders. Intoxication resulting from such compliance with a physician's advice should not be deemed voluntary just because the patient is aware of potential adverse side effects. We agree with the Texas courts' formulation of when the defense is available. "The involuntary intoxication defense is limited to (1) the defendant's unawareness of what the intoxicating substance is: (2) force or duress; or (3) medically prescribed drugs taken according to prescription." Shurbet v. State, 652 S.W.2d 425, 428 (Tex. Ct. App. 1982) (emphasis added). We note that this does not include cases where a patient knowingly takes more than the prescribed dosage, see Goldsmith v. State, 252 S.E.2d 657 (Ga. Ct. App. 1979), or mixes a prescription medication with alcohol or other controlled substances, see State v. Voorhees, 596 N.W.2d 241 (Minn. 1999). Neither would the defense be available to one who voluntarily undertakes an activity incompatible with the drug's side effects. See City of Wichita v. Hull, 724 P.2d 699 (Kan. Ct. App. 1986) (holding that involuntary intoxication defense was properly denied where defendant drove after taking sleeping pill).

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