RECEIVED

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS01-2018 DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP000993

VILLAGE OF MENOMONEE FALLS,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KRISTINA SMITHERS,

Defendant-Appellant,

Appeal from a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of Waukesha County Honorable Lee S. Dreyfus Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 2017CV000790

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT VILLAGE OF MENOMONEE FALLS

Adam C. Koenings State Bar No. 1082612 Village of Menomonee Falls W156 N8480 Pilgrim Road Menomonee Falls, WI 53051 262-532-4200 (phone) 262-532-4249 (fax)

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent, Village of Menomonee Falls

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

ARGUMENT

Ms. Smithers has consistently failed to establish the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication in this case. While the circuit court denied Ms. Smithers' motion regarding the defense of involuntary intoxication, Ms. Smithers presented evidence regarding the affirmative defense at trial. In both instances, Ms. Smithers was unable to establish the elements required by the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication set forth in Wis. Stat. § 939.42.

Both the circuit court's denial of Ms. Smithers' motion on October 6, 2017 and its finding of guilt on May 10, 2018 should therefore be affirmed.

I. The Circuit Court's Denial of Ms. Smithers' Motion Should be Affirmed.

Ms. Smithers filed a motion with the circuit court on August 28, 2017 regarding the defense of involuntary intoxication. (R.3). The circuit court ruled on October 6, 2017 denying Ms. Smithers'

motion. (R.23) This Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling on Ms. Smithers' motion.

a. The standard of review is whether the trial court exercised appropriate discretion.

While not completely clear, the motion Ms. Smithers filed with the circuit court on August 28, 2017 appears to be in the form of a motion in limine seeking an evidentiary ruling related to the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication. (R.3). In reviewing an evidentiary ruling, appellate courts should affirm the ruling "if it finds that the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, used demonstrated rational process, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." State v. Hunt, 263 Wis.2d 1, 25, 666 N.W.2d 771 (2003). In addition to reviewing the reasons set forth by the circuit court, "an appellate court independently should review the record to determine whether it provides an appropriate basis for the circuit court's decision." Id.

b. The circuit court's October 6 ruling was based on the briefs and oral arguments.

Ms. Smithers' motion related to involuntary intoxication requested that she be "permitted to raise involuntary intoxication as a defense." (R.2:1).

Neither the motion nor brief in support of the motion cited Wis. Stat. § 939.42 as the statutory basis for the affirmative defense being sought. (R.2; R.3). It also failed to assert the necessary elements to mount the affirmative defense. The Village's response brief argued that (1) involuntary intoxication was inappropriate and (2) that Ms. Smithers failed to assert the necessary elements of the defense. (R.4). The circuit court also received oral arguments on September 28, 2017 prior to making its ruling.

The circuit court's oral ruling on October 6 cites to Wis. Stat. § 939.42 and denies Ms. Smithers' motion because intent is not a required element of the offense and because Ms. Smithers has not met the requisite burden to establish the affirmative defense. (R.23). This ruling should be affirmed.

c. <u>Intent is not a requisite element under</u> Wis. Stat. 346.63(1)(a).

As a threshold issue, the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication is not applicable in this case because the charge alleged does not require proof of intent. Intoxication is an affirmative defense pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.42 for purposes of negating intent. If intent is not a requisite element of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1), mounting a defense of involuntary intoxication would only serve to confuse.

Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) reads in pertinent part:

No person may drive or operate a motor vehicle while...[u]nder the influence of...a controlled substance [or] any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving...

When "the statute makes no reference to intent, [the Wisconsin Supreme Court] has held that the statute creates a strict liability offense". *State v. Polashek*, 2002 WI 74, ¶28, 253 Wis.2d 527, 646 N.W.2d 330. The conduct prohibited "consists of (1) driving or operating a motor vehicle, and (2) doing so while under the influence of an intoxicant." *State v.*

McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d 532, 535, 319 N.W.2d 865 (1982). "Nothing more needs to be proven to sustain a judgment of conviction against a motorist." Id.

The purpose of the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication is to negate the element of intent. Wis. Stat. § 939.42. Because the charge alleged against the Defendant does not require proof of intent, the affirmative defense is inapplicable. The charges in the two involuntary intoxication cases cited by the Defendant are serious criminal charges in which intent must be proven. State v. Gardner, 230 Wis. 2d 32, 601 N.W.2d 670 (Ct. App. 1999) (burglary, false imprisonment and second-degree sexual assault); State v. Anderson, 2014 WI 93, 357 Wis.2d 337, 851 N.W.2d 760 (first-degree intentional homicide).

A first offense OWI in Wisconsin is a civil forfeiture action. Ms. Smithers is however asserting an affirmative defense set forth by the legislature in Subchapter III [Defenses to Criminal Liability] of Chapter 939 [Crimes]. Generally, these affirmative

defenses are not available to a defendant in a civil forfeiture action. *State. v. Brown*, 107 Wis.2d 44, 53, 318 N.W.2d 370 (1982). In *Brown*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court narrowly tailored an exception to this rule due to alleged erratic driving by a police officer. *Id.* Ms. Smithers has not set forth any reason why this Court should make a similar exception here.

This Court should conclude that the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication is inapplicable to this case and affirm the circuit court ruling.

d. Ms. Smithers failed to establish the elements required by Wis. Stat. § 939.42 in her motion.

A drugged condition "is a defense only if such condition is involuntarily produced and...[r]enders the actor incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong in regard to the alleged criminal act at the time the act is committed." Wis. Stat. § 939.42. Ms. Smithers' motion to the circuit court regarding involuntary intoxication failed to even cite this statutory language. (R.2; R.3). Ms. Smithers should not now be able to assert that the circuit court failed

to apply the law to the facts when her motion and brief failed to even cite the applicable statute.

Movants must "[s]tate with particularity the grounds for the motion and the order for relief sought." Wis. Stat. § 971.30(2)(c). "The rationale underlying § 971.30's particularity requirement is notice — notice to the nonmoving party and to the court of the specific issues being challenged by the movant." State v. Caban, 210 Wis.2d 597, 605, 563 N.W.2d 501, 505 (1997). Ms. Smithers' motion to the circuit court and brief in support of her motion failed to state that Ms. Smithers' drugged condition was involuntarily produced and rendered her incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong. (R.2; R.3).

First, Ms. Smithers' motion failed to establish that her drugged condition was involuntarily produced. Her assertion is that she took medications as prescribed. While this assertion is far from clear, even if true, Ms. Smithers voluntarily undertook an activity incompatible with the prescribed medicine. (R.3:2-3). Ms. Smithers' brief in support of her motion

quotes *State v. Gardner* at length. (R.3:4-5). In that case, the Court of Appeals made clear that the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication would not be available to one who takes medicine as prescribed, but "undertakes an activity incompatible with the drug's side effects." *State v. Gardner*, 230 Wis. 2d 32, 42.

Second, Ms. Smithers' motion failed to assert that her drugged condition rendered her incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong in regard to the alleged act. In fact, Ms. Smithers' brief in support of her motion states that the drugged condition had not yet set in when she made the decision to drive to Illinois. (R.3:2-3). Once the drugged condition set in, Ms. Smithers made no assertion to the circuit court that her drugged condition impacted her ability to decide between right and wrong. (R.2; R.3). Accompanying Ms. Smithers' motion and brief to the circuit court was a letter from James Oehldrich simply stating that Ms. Smithers' drugged condition could have caused "poor balance, slurred speech,

incoordination and slow movements." (R.3:9). This is wholly insufficient to establish an involuntary intoxication defense.

Therefore, in addition to not being an appropriate affirmative defense in this case, Ms.

Smithers failed to make a threshold showing of the elements of the affirmative defense in Wis. Stat.

§ 939.42. For this reason, this Court should affirm the circuit court's October 6 ruling.

II. The Circuit Court's Finding of Guilt Should be Affirmed.

Following a court trial on May 10, 2018, the circuit court found Ms. Smithers guilty of violating Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). During the trial, Ms. Smithers was allowed to present any evidence necessary to mount an affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication. (R.24:3-5). The evidence presented by Ms. Smithers however was insufficient and she was found guilty by the circuit court. The finding of guilt should be affirmed.

a. The standard of review is whether the circuit court's ruling was clearly erroneous.

In reviewing a circuit court's findings of fact, an appellate court should uphold the findings "unless they are clearly erroneous." *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶18, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. In this case, the circuit court determination that Ms.

Smithers was impaired to a degree that rendered her incapable of safely driving was not clearly erroneous and therefore should be affirmed.

b. <u>Ms. Smithers was operating a motor</u>
<u>vehicle while impaired to a degree that</u>
<u>rendered her incapable of safely driving.</u>

During the circuit court trial, ample evidence was presented to establish that Ms. Smithers was incapable of safely operating her vehicle in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). Officer Brooks testified regarding his observations of Ms. Smithers while she was driving, sitting in her vehicle and outside of her vehicle. (R.24:9-20). Throughout his observation of Ms. Smithers he observed significant impairment. During her testimony, Ms. Smithers did not dispute

that she was significantly impaired and unable to safely operate a vehicle. (R.24:49-51).

Lab analyst Diane Kalschauer testified that the substances in her system were consistent with the types of observations observed by Officer Brooks.

(R.24:31-32). Both Ms. Kalschauer and the forensic witness for the defense, Mr. Oehldrich, both agreed that the Carisporodol and the Meprobamate were likely the main causes of the significant impairment exhibited by Ms. Smithers. (R.24:34; R.24:59).

Based on these facts alone, the circuit court's finding of guilt should be affirmed.

c. The evidence Ms. Smithers presented at trial was insufficient to establish involuntary intoxication.

Ms. Smithers presented evidence at trial in an effort to mount an affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication. The evidence presented again however failed to establish the necessary elements of the defense.

The testimony by Ms. Smithers regarding her prescriptions was not sufficient to establish

Temazepam and Carisoprodol specifically and offered a number of miscellaneous documents as evidence of her prescriptions. (R.24:44). There was no specific testimony by Ms. Smithers or anyone else regarding the amount she was prescribed for any particular drug. Ms. Smithers testified that she took

Carisoprodol, among other drugs on September 24 but does not recall when or how much of the drugs she took. (R.24:48). Sometime after consuming the drugs, she began driving. (R.24:49).

Again, the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication is not available to one who takes medicine as prescribed, but "undertakes an activity incompatible with the drug's side effects." *State v. Gardner*, 230 Wis.2d 32, 42. This is exactly what Ms. Smithers states she did in this case.

Ms. Smithers also failed to establish at trial that the drugs she took rendered her incapable of determining right from wrong. Ms. Kalschauer testified that the effects of the drugs in Ms. Smithers'

blood were consistent with muscle relaxation, sedation, and pain relief (R.24:30-33), which is consistent with the observations of Officer Brooks.

On cross examination, Ms. Kalschauer answered a number of questions from defense counsel related to the effects of these drugs but there was no mention of any impact on a person's ability to determine between right and wrong. (R.24:37-38).

At trial Ms. Smithers failed to make a threshold showing of the basic elements of the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication.

CONCLUSION

Because Ms. Smithers has consistently failed to establish the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication in this case, this Court should affirm the circuit court's rulings.